# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION TWO

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

#### KRIS A. SAEGER,

Appellant.

## ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR MASON COUNTY

The Honorable Toni A. Sheldon

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

THOMAS M. KUMMEROW Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

###

#### B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. CrR 6.1(d) requires the trial court enter written findings of fact and conclusions of law following a bench trial. In the instant case, Mr. Saeger waived his right to a jury trial and agreed to a bench trial. However, no written findings of fact and conclusions of law were entered following the trial. Does the failure to enter written findings of fact and conclusions of law require remand?
- 2. A trial court must determine whether a defendant has the means to pay legal financial obligations before imposing these fees and costs. Here, there was ample evidence Mr. Saeger was unable to pay

any of the costs and fees yet the trial court determined he had the present or future ability to pay. Was the trial court's determination clearly erroneous?

3. A trial court violates a defendant's constitutionally protected right to equal protection when it imposes recoupment for court appointed counsel where it fails to determine the ability of the defendant to pay and whether any claim of indigency will be remedied in the near future. The court here imposed recoupment despite evidence of Mr. Saeger's inability to pay. The court also ignored evidence that Mr. Saeger's indigency would not end soon. Did the trial court violate Mr. Saeger's right to equal protection?

#### C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Kris Saeger was charged with three counts of felony harassment. CP 16-17. Mr. Saeger waived his right to a jury trial and the matter proceeded as a bench trial. CP 18, RP 1-2. After hearing the evidence, the trial court found Mr. Saeger guilty as charged.

At sentencing, the State sought \$1,910 in assessments. RP 93.

Mr. Saeger's counsel related Mr. Saeger's financial status and objected to the imposition of the costs:

Mr. Saeger is 35 years old. He has his income Social Security Disability from post-traumatic stress disorder

which occurred when he was severely beaten a couple of years ago, and that's the basis for his disability.

RP 97. Nevertheless, without stating the basis of its finding, the court checked the box on the preprinted form indicating it found Mr. Saeger had the present or future ability to pay any legal financial obligations. CP 7-8, Finding 2.5. The court went on to impose \$1,910 in fees: \$200 filing fee, \$500 crime victim fee, \$260 Sheriff service fee, \$100 DNA fee, and \$850 in attorney's fees recoupment. CP 9-10; RP 100. The court recognized Mr. Saeger's meager financial status when it set Mr. Saeger's minimum payment at \$25 a month. RP 100 ("With the limited income that Mr. Saeger must have through his disability, the Court will set the minimum monthly payment at \$25.00 per month.").

#### D. ARGUMENT

1. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO ENTER WRITTEN FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AS REQUIRED BY CrR 6.1

The court entered the Judgment and Sentence on November 26, 2013, and Mr. Saeger filed his Notice of Appeal on the same day. CP 4-15. Written findings of fact and conclusions of law as to guilt, as required by CrR 6.1, have never been entered.

CrR 6.1(d) requires:

In a case tried without a jury, the court *shall* enter findings of fact and conclusions of law. In giving the decision, the facts found and the conclusions of law shall be separately stated. The court shall enter such findings of fact and conclusions of law only upon 5 days notice of presentation to the parties.

(Emphasis added.) The term "shall" indicates a mandatory duty on the trial court. *State v. Krall*, 125 Wn.2d 146, 148, 881 P.2d 1040 (1994). And the importance of written findings and conclusions was reinforced by the Supreme Court decision *State v. Head*, 136 Wn.2d 619, 964 P.2d 1187 (1998). In *Head*, the Supreme Court noted:

A trial court's oral opinion and memorandum opinion are no more than oral expressions of the court's informal opinion at the time rendered. An oral opinion "has no final or binding effect unless formally incorporated into the findings, conclusions, and judgment." Head, 136 Wn.2d at 622, quoting State v. Dailey, 93 Wn.2d 454, 458-59, 610 P.2d 357 (1980).

The *Head* Court determined that in adult bench trials where written findings and conclusions are not filed, remand for entry of findings is the appropriate remedy. *Head*, 136 Wn.2d at 622. But, at the hearing on remand, no additional evidence may be taken as the findings and conclusions are based solely on the evidence already taken. *Head*, 136 Wn.2d at 625.

We hold that the failure to enter written findings of fact and conclusions of law as required by CrR 6.1(d) requires remand for entry of written findings and conclusions. An appellate court should not have to comb an oral ruling to determine whether appropriate "findings" have been made, nor should a defendant be forced to interpret an oral ruling in order to appeal his or her conviction.

Head, 136 Wn.2d at 624.

Here, the court has never entered the required written findings of fact and conclusions of law following the bench trial. Accordingly, this Court must remand Mr. Saeger's matter for the entry of the CrR 6.1 findings.

- 2. THE TRIAL COURT EXCEEDED ITS
  STAUTORY AUTHORITY AND VIOLATED
  MR. SAEGER'S RIGHT TO EQUAL
  PROTECTION IN IMPOSING COURT COSTS
  AND ATTORNEY'S FEES IN LIGHT OF HIS
  INABILITY TO PAY
- a. The court may impose court costs and fees only after a finding of an ability to pay. The allowance and recovery of costs is entirely statutory. *State v. Nolan*, 98 Wn.App. 75, 78-79, 988 P.2d 473 (1999). Under RCW 10.01.160(1), the court can order a defendant convicted of a felony to repay court costs as part of the judgment and sentence. RCW 10.01.160(2) limits the costs to those "expenses specially incurred by the state in prosecuting the defendant or in administering the deferred prosecution program under 10.05 RCW or pretrial supervision."

However, RCW 10.01.160(3) states that the sentencing court cannot order a defendant to pay court costs "unless the defendant is or will be able to pay them." In making that determination, the sentencing court must take into consideration the financial resources of the defendant and the burden imposed by ordering payment of court costs. RCW 10.01.160(3) provides:

The court shall not order a defendant to pay costs unless the defendant is or will be able to pay them. In determining the amount and method of payment of costs, the court shall take account of the financial resources of the defendant and the nature of the burden that payment of costs will impose.

This Court reviews a trial court's determination on an offender's financial resources and ability to pay under the clearly erroneous standard. State v. Bertrand, 165 Wn.App. 393, 404 n. 13, 267 P.3d 511 (2011), citing State v. Baldwin, 63 Wn.App. 303, 312, 818 P.2d 1116, 837 P.2d 646 (1991), review denied, 175 Wn.2d 1014 (2012). "A finding of fact is clearly erroneous when, although there is some evidence to support it, review of all the evidence leads to a 'definite and firm conviction that a mistake has been committed." Schryvers v. Coulee Community. Hospital, 138 Wn.App., 648, 654, 158 P.3d 113 (2007), quoting Wenatchee Sportsmen Association v. Chelan County, 141 Wn.2d 169, 176, 4 P.3d 123 (2000). The record must be sufficient for this Court to review whether "the trial court judge took into account the financial resources of the defendant and the nature of the burden'" under a clearly erroneous standard. Bertrand, 165 Wn.App. at 404.

b. The court's "finding" that Mr. Saeger had the ability to pay was clearly erroneous in light of evidence he completely lacked any ability to repay. The court here imposed both costs and recoupment for attorney's fees following a "finding" that Mr. Saeger had the present and future ability to pay. RP 7-8. In fact, the evidence before the court showed the exact opposite; Mr. Saeger had no ability to pay, either presently or in the future.

LFOs, it must make an adequate record for this court to conclude it had a sufficient "factual basis" to do so. *Baldwin*, 63 Wn.App. at 311 (affirming a trial court finding that an offender had the present or likely future ability to pay LFOs where the only evidence to support it was a statement in the presentence report that the offender "describe[d] himself as employable"). Some evidence is required. *Bertrand*, 165 Wn.App. at 404 (reversing, as clearly erroneous, a trial court finding that an offender had the present or likely future ability to pay LFOs where the record contained no evidence to support it).

The court here found:

The court has considered the total amount owing, the defendant's past, present, and future ability to pay financial legal obligations, including the defendant's

financial resources and the likelihood that the defendant's status will change. The court finds:

That the defendant has the ability or likely future ability to pay the legal financial obligations imposed herein. RCW 9.94A.753.

CP 8. While the court was not *required* to make an on-the-record finding of an ability to pay, since the court *did* make an express finding, that finding is before this Court to review whether that finding was clearly erroneous. *Bertrand*, 165 Wn.App. at 403-04.

In *Bertrand*, the evidence from trial showed Ms. Bertrand's income source was disability, as it is here with Mr. Saeger. Despite this fact, the trial court imposed costs and fees totaling \$4,334, and ordered her to make minimum payments of \$25 per month to begin upon her completion of her 36-month sentence. In overturning the trial court's finding that Ms. Bertrand had the present and future ability to pay, this Court noted:

The record here does not show that the trial court took into account Bertrand's financial resources and the nature of the burden of imposing LFOs on her. In fact, the record before us on appeal contains no evidence to support the trial court's finding number 2.5 that Bertrand has the present or future ability to pay LFOs. Therefore, we hold that the trial court's judgment and sentence finding number 2.5 was clearly erroneous.

Bertrand, 165 Wn.App. at 404. This Court further noted that "in light of Bertrand's disability, her ability to pay LFOs now or in the near future is arguably in question." *Id.* at 404 fn.15.

Here, the facts mirror *Bertrand*. In both circumstances the defendant's sole source of income was disability. Nevertheless, the trial court made a specific finding, checking finding 2.5 in the Judgment and Sentence, that the defendant had the present and future ability to pay, thus imposing thousands of dollars in legal financial obligations. Based upon this Court's well-reasoned decision in *Bertrand*, this Court should reverse finding 2.5 and remand for the trial court to strike it. *Bertrand*, 165 Wn.App. at 405.

To the extent the State may argue the issue is not ripe because there have been no attempts at recovery of these items, the argument fails. Generally, "the meaningful time to examine the defendant's ability to pay is when the government seeks to collect the obligation." *Bertrand*, 165 Wn.App. at 405 (emphasis omitted), *quoting Baldwin*, 63 Wn.App. at 310. Further, under RAP 3.1, an offender is not aggrieved by an order to pay "until the State seeks to enforce payment and contemporaneously determines [the offender's] ability to pay." *State v. Smits*, 152 Wn.App. 514, 525, 216 P.3d 1097 (2009), *quoting* 

State v. Mahone, 98 Wn.App. 342, 347-48, 989 P.2d 583 (1999). These rules govern review of *orders* to pay LFOs, not *factual findings* of ability to pay LFOs. *See Bertrand*, 165 Wn.App. at 403-05. Such factual findings are governed by the clearly erroneous standard and are ripe for review upon entry.

c. The imposition of recoupment for attorney's fees was erroneous because Mr. Saeger did not have a present ability to pay nor was there any indication his indigency would end. The court ordered Mr. Saeger to pay \$850 for "[f]ees for court appointed attorney." CP 9. Imposition of this fee where the evidence before the court showed Mr. Saeger lacked the ability to pay and there were no indicators showing this inability would end in the near future violated his right to equal protection.

When imposing recoupment for attorney's fees, certain factors must be considered or imposition of recoupment violates equal protection, including whether defendant "is or Will be able to pay." *State v. Barklind*, 87 Wn.2d 814, 817, 557 P.2d 314 (1977), *citing Fuller v. Oregon*, 417 U.S. 40, 94 S.Ct. 2116, 40 L.Ed.2d 642 (1974). The court must also take into account the financial resources of the defendant and the nature of the burden that payment of costs will

impose, and the court cannot require repayment if it appears that there is no likelihood that defendant's indigency will end. *Id.* 

The court's "finding" here ignored the plain evidence that Mr. Saeger had very limited income from Social Security Disability and lacked any ability to pay the costs. Further, by requiring him to pay only \$25 per month, the debt created by imposition of these costs will never be paid off entirely give the interest rate on the judgment of 12% per annum. RCW 10.82.090; RCW 19.52.020. In addition, while Mr. Saeger had no ability to pay before being convicted because of his disability and limited fixed income, his ability to earn money would be further destroyed by the felony conviction which would stigmatize him in the job market and quash any ability he had to remedy his present indigency. Thus, the evidence established Mr. Saeger lacked the ability to pay, and there was a complete lack of evidence that this indigency would end anywhere in the near future. The court's imposition of attorney's fees recoupment violated Mr. Saeger's right to equal protection.

#### E. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated, Mr. Saeger asks this Court to remand the matter to the trial court to enter written findings of fact and conclusions of law. In addition, Mr. Saeger requests this Court reverse the trial court's imposition of costs and fees and remand for a determination of the trial court to waive the costs and fees in light of Mr. Saeger's inability to pay.