## COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

V.

KRIS A. SAEGER, APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Mason County The Honorable Toni A. Sheldon, Judge

No. 12-1-00360-2

# **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT (Second Appeal)**

MICHAEL DORCY
Mason County Prosecuting Attorney

By
TIM HIGGS
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
WSBA #25919

521 N. Fourth Street PO Box 639 Shelton, WA 98584 PH: (360) 427-9670 ext. 417

###

#### A. INTRODUCTION

This brief is in response to Saeger's second appeal in this case. The State previously filed a brief in response to Saeger's first appeal. After the State filed its first brief, this Court consolidated this appeal with Saeger's prior appeal. Therefore, this brief is in response to Saeger's second appeal but has the same case number as the first appeal.

Because there are two appeals pending in the same case, there are two transcripts. For clarity, the State cites to the original transcript as "RP" and cites to the supplemental transcript as "SRP."

# B. <u>STATE'S COUNTER-STATEMENT OF ISSUE PERTAINING</u> TO APPELLANT'S ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

Saeger's residence at the time of sentencing was within 500 feet of the residence of the victims of the crimes for which Saeger was being sentenced. The State has a compelling interest in protecting the victims of Saeger's crimes from further crimes perpetrated by Saeger. Because Saeger has repeatedly harassed the victims in this case, the court did not abuse its discretion or otherwise err when it ordered as a part of the judgment and sentence that Saeger not go within 500 feet of the victims. The order was reasonably necessary to achieve the State's compelling interest in protecting the victims from further crimes perpetrated against them by Saeger, and there is no lesser restriction available

State's Response Brief (2nd Appeal) Case No. 44264-7-II

with which to achieve the same purpose.

#### B. FACTS AND STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Pursuant to RAP 10.3(b), with the addition of the following fact and the facts provided in the argument section of the State's brief, the State accepts Saeger's recitation of the facts for the purpose of reviewing the issue under review in the current appeal.

After the court erroneously said that the no contact order in the judgment and sentence expired on November 26, 2013, the court then corrected the record and said: "Well, there isn't actually -- yeah, but there isn't actually a no contact order. It's within the J and S, and it's November 26, 2017." SRP 3.

On appeal, Saeger contends that his right to choose his residence is a fundamental right and that the court's order, in effect, wrongfully infringes upon this right. Brief of Appellant at 3.

#### C. ARGUMENT

Saeger's residence at the time of sentencing was within 500 feet of the residence of the victims of the crimes for which Saeger was being sentenced. The State has a compelling interest in protecting the victims of Saeger's crimes from

State's Response Brief (2nd Appeal) Case No. 44264-7-II

further crimes perpetrated by Saeger. Because Saeger has repeatedly harassed the victims in this case, the court did not abuse its discretion or otherwise err when it ordered as a part of the judgment and sentence that Saeger not go within 500 feet of the victims. The order was reasonably necessary to achieve the State's compelling interest in protecting the victims from further crimes perpetrated against them by Saeger, and there is no lesser restriction available with which to achieve the same purpose.

Sentencing conditions are reviewed for an abuse of discretion.

State v. Warren, 165 Wn.2d 17, 32, 195 P.3d 940 (2008). A trial court abuses its discretion when its decision is manifestly unreasonable or its decision is exercised on untenable grounds or for untenable reasons. State v. Cunningham, 96 Wn.2d 31, 34, 633 P.2d 886 (1981). The facts of the instant case show that the trial court did not abuse its discretion.

After Saeger waived a jury trial, a bench trial was held and a Mason County judge convicted Saeger of three counts of felony harassment, as charged by the State. CP 16-17, RP 88-89. When Saeger was sentenced, the trial court included in the judgment and sentence an order that Saeger not go within 500 feet of the three victims' home, workplace, or school. CP 11 (page 7, para. 4.5 of Judgment and Sentence).

State's Response Brief (2nd Appeal) Case No. 44264-7-II

Because he was living next door to the victims, the restriction that he not go within 500 feet of them prevented Saeger from continuing to reside at his residence. SRP 1-3. Saeger motioned the court to amend the order to reduce the restricted distance to 100 feet, but the court denied his motion. *Id*.

Saeger contends that because the right to travel is a fundamental right, the court may not impose a sentencing condition that impinges upon this right unless it is "reasonably necessary to accomplish the essential needs of the State and public order." Brief of Appellant at 4, quoting *In re Rainey*, 168 Wn.2d 367, 377, 229 P.3d 686 (2010). Saeger cites *State v. Warren*, 165 Wn.2d 17, 32, 195 P.3d 940 (2008), to support his assertion that "[w]here sentencing conditions interfere with a fundamental constitutional right it is subject to strict scrutiny." Brief of Appellant at 4.

The *Warren* Court's only mention of strict scrutiny appears at page 34, where it wrote that: "The rights to marriage and to the care, custody, and companionship of one's children are fundamental constitutional rights, and state interference with those rights is subject to strict scrutiny." *State* v. *Warren*, 165 Wn.2d at 34.

The *Warren* Court also affirmed that, independent of conditions of community custody, trial courts have authority to impose crime related

State's Response Brief (2nd Appeal) Case No. 44264-7-II

prohibitions as part of a judgment and sentence. *Id.* at 32. Those prohibitions may extend for the term of the maximum sentence for the crime of conviction. *Id.* This is what occurred in the instant case, where the trial court ordered as a part of the judgment and sentence that Saeger not go within 500 feet of the victims of the crimes of felony harassment for which he was convicted. CP 11 (page 7, para. 4.5 of Judgment and Sentence).

Recognizing that the right to marriage is a fundamental right, the *Warren* Court explained:

More careful review of sentencing conditions is required where those conditions interfere with a fundamental constitutional right. See State v. Riles, 135 Wash.2d 326, 347, 957 P.2d 655 (1998). Conditions that interfere with fundamental rights must be reasonably necessary to accomplish the essential needs of the State and public order. Id. Additionally, conditions that interfere with fundamental rights must be sensitively imposed. [Citations omitted].

Warren, 165 Wn.2d at 32.

At issue in *Warren* was whether the court erred when it included a sentencing condition that the defendant not have contact with his wife, who was not a victim herself, but was the mother of the victims. *Id.* at 33-34.

State's Response Brief (2nd Appeal) Case No. 44264-7-II

We conclude the order prohibiting contact does not violate Warren's fundamental right to marry because it is reasonably necessary to achieve a compelling state interest, namely, the protection of Lisa [(defendant's wife)] and her daughters. We are mindful that crime-related prohibitions affecting fundamental rights must be narrowly drawn. *Riley*, 121 Wash. 2d 38, 846 P.2d 1365<sup>1</sup> (citing *Consuelo–Gonzalez*, 521 F.2d at 265.<sup>2</sup> There must be no reasonable alternative way to achieve the State's interest. *See Ancira*, 107 Wash.App. at 655, 27 P.3d 1246.<sup>3</sup>

State v. Warren, 165 Wn.2d 17, 34-35, 195 P.3d 940, 948 (2008).

In the instant case, the court's no contact order protects the direct victims of Saeger's crimes. CP 11; SRP 3. There have been repeated incidents where Saeger has harassed these victims. SRP 3. At sentencing, Saeger had at least three prior convictions for violation of a court order. CP 6-7; RP 92-93. In addition, Saeger had prior gross misdemeanor convictions for making threats that involved the same victims as in the instant case. RP 93-96.

Thus, under the guidelines provided by *Warren*, the State's interest in protecting Saeger's victims is compelling, the order here is reasonably necessary to protect these victims, and there is no less restrictive alternative. Saeger has a fundamental right to travel, but the Washington

State v. Riley, 121 Wn.2d 22, 38, 846 P.2d 1365 (1993).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> U.S. v. Consuelo-Gonzalez, 521 F.2d 259, 265 (9th Cir. 1975).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> State v. Ancira, 107 Wn. App. 650, 655, 27 P.3d 1246 (2001).

Supreme Court "has held that freedom of movement may not be used to impair the individual rights of others. [Footnote and citations omitted]. No travel rights of one individual can supersede the constitutional rights of other individuals. [Footnote and citations omitted]." *State v. Lee*, 135 Wn.2d 369, 390, 957 P.2d 741 (1998).

The Supreme Court has "previously recognized that a sentencing condition may prohibit a defendant's access to a means or medium through which he committed a crime." *In re Rainey*, 168 Wn.2d 367, 380, 229 P.3d 686 (2010). In the instant case, Saeger's means or medium of harassing and threatening the victims is derived from the fact that he lives on property that adjoins the victims' property and, when he becomes intoxicated, he becomes violent and has ready access to the victims. RP 14-61.

RCW 9.94A.505(8) states that a sentencing court "may impose and enforce crime-related prohibitions and affirmative conditions as provided in this chapter." A "[c]rime-related prohibition" is:,

an order of a court prohibiting conduct that directly relates to the circumstances of the crime for which the offender has been convicted, and shall not be construed to mean orders directing an offender affirmatively to participate in rehabilitative programs or to otherwise perform affirmative conduct. However, affirmative acts necessary to monitor compliance with the order of a court may be required by the department.

State's Response Brief (2nd Appeal) Case No. 44264-7-II

RCW 9.94A.030(10). Additionally, RCW 9.94A.703(3)(b) grants the trial court the discretion to order an offender to "[r]efrain from direct or indirect contact with the victim of the crime or a specified class of individuals" as a condition of community custody. See, State v. Armendariz, 160 Wn.2d 106, 108-113, 156 P.3d 201 (2007); State v. Berg, 147 Wn. App. 923, 942, 198 P.3d 529 (2008); State v. Ancira, 107 Wn. App. 650, 656, 27 P.3d 1246 (2001).

The record of the instant case supports a finding that the trial court's order is narrowly tailored, that it is reasonably necessary to achieve the State's compelling interest in protecting the victims of Saeger's crimes, and that there is no lesser alternative to the court's order.

Therefore, the trial court's order should be upheld. *In re Rainey*, 168
Wn.2d 367, 229 P.3d 686 (2010); *State v. Warren*, 165 Wn.2d 17, 195
P.3d 940 (2008).

#### D. CONCLUSION

The trial court's order prohibiting Saeger from going within 500 feet of the victims of his crimes is reasonably necessary to protect the victims, who have been victimized by him in the past. The ordered is

State's Response Brief (2nd Appeal)
Case No. 44264-7-II

narrowly tailored to achieve the State's compelling interest in protecting the victims, and there is no lesser alternative that will achieve this purpose. Therefore, the order passes constitutional strict scrutiny and is not an abuse of the trial court's discretion.